

Subject benchmark statement Career guidance and development

March 2014

Contents

Pre	face	1
	nt statement from Skills Development Scotland, QAA Scotland and the Career velopment Institute	1
1	Introduction: the purpose of the subject benchmark statement	3
2	Rationale for the review of the career guidance and development subject benchmar	k 4
3	Core and transferable skills	5
4	Values and commitment	6
5	Levels and exit points	7
6	Assessment guidance	8
7	Practical experience	9
8	Continuous professional development	9
9 De	Benchmark standards for a master's level qualification in Career Guidance and velopment	10
App	pendix 1: Key qualifications and policy reference points	22
App	pendix 2: Membership of subject benchmark review group, 2013	24

Preface

Subject benchmark statements in the higher education sector provide a means for the academic community to describe the nature and characteristics of programmes in a specific subject or subject area. They also represent general expectations about standards for the award of qualifications at a given level in terms of the attributes and capabilities that those possessing such qualifications should be able to demonstrate. Subject benchmark statements form part of the UK Quality Code for Higher Education.¹

This subject benchmark statement relates to master's programmes in career guidance and development in Scotland and is set at Level 11 in the Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework.²

Subject benchmark statements are used for a variety of purposes. Primarily they are an important external source of reference for higher education providers when new programmes are being designed and developed in a subject area. They provide general guidance for articulating the learning outcomes associated with specific programmes but are not a specification of a detailed curriculum in the subject.

Subject benchmark statements also provide support to higher education providers in pursuit of internal quality assurance. They enable the learning outcomes specified for a particular programme to be reviewed and evaluated against agreed general expectations about standards. Subject benchmark statements allow for flexibility and innovation in programme design and can stimulate academic discussion and debate on the content of new and existing programmes within an agreed overall conceptual framework. Subject benchmark statements also provide support to higher education institutions engaged in the Enhancement-led Institutional Review (ELIR)³ process as they can be used to review learning outcomes specified for a particular programme against agreed expectations about standards.

QAA publishes and distributes this subject benchmark statement and other subject benchmark statements developed by similar subject-specific groups. The subject benchmark statement will also be of interest to students working towards a qualification in career guidance and development, career guidance practitioners themselves who may be reflecting on their own professional development, managers and mentors in employing organisations, those who supervise placements and provide opportunities for practice-based learning, those who are responsible for the quality assurance of career guidance services and members of other associated professions.

Joint statement from Skills Development Scotland, QAA Scotland and the Career Development Institute

Skills Development Scotland, the Career Development Institute and QAA Scotland are delighted to publish this revised subject benchmark statement for a master's level qualification in career guidance and development.

¹ The UK Quality Code for Higher Education in available at: www.gaa.ac.uk/qualitycode.

² The Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework is available at: www.scgf.org.uk.

³ More information about Enhancement-led Institutional Review is available at: www.gaa.ac.uk/InstitutionReports/types-of-review/Pages/ELIR.aspx.

Since the benchmark statement was first published in 2007, the nature and range of career information, advice and guidance services in Scotland has changed dramatically, and there is widespread recognition that related qualifications also need to keep pace.

The publication of the *Career Information, Advice and Guidance in Scotland* framework in March 2011 signalled the beginning of a modernised, multi-channel approach that will continue to evolve. A key principle underpinning this new approach is the promotion of career management skills which will assist individuals to secure fulfilling careers throughout their lives and develop 'career resilience'.

Alongside developments in policy and delivery there has been the establishment in April 2013 of a new UK-wide professional body, the Career Development Institute (CDI), building on the heritage of four founding organisations already engaged in the sector. The CDI offers a single voice for career development professionals, supporting their ongoing learning and accrediting standards. The CDI's UK Register of Career Development Professionals is set to create a recognised digest of practitioners who are qualified to deliver high quality services across a diverse group of guidance advisers, career educators and career coaches.

This subject benchmark statement has been produced to ensure that the postgraduate qualification in career guidance and development continues to respond to these changes and to meet the needs of Scotland's people.

In addition, in higher education in Scotland, the Quality Enhancement Framework developed by QAA Scotland aims to support the identification, sharing and dissemination of good practice in learning and teaching, and to focus on the continuous enhancement of the student experience and this has included the development of qualifications and new ways of learning in higher education for a student population whose profile is changing. The revised subject benchmark statement supports this process by providing a robust framework for developing qualifications that produce competent, reflective practitioners who are responsive to the needs of individuals progressing in the twenty-first century labour market.

The statement has been revised following extensive consultation with key stakeholders with an interest in career guidance, development and management and draws on best practice in standards and competency frameworks in the UK and internationally as well as reflecting developments in policy across the UK.

This publication is a joint undertaking by QAA Scotland, Skills Development Scotland, the Career Development Institute, the career guidance profession and the higher education institutions delivering career guidance programmes in Scotland and has been developed within the context of the Scotlish Credit and Qualifications Framework (SCQF).

Signed on behalf of Skills Development Scotland Danny Logue, Operations Director

Signed on behalf of the Career Development Institute Karen O'Donoghue, CDI President

Signed on behalf of QAA Scotland Bill Harvey, Director, QAA Scotland

December 2013

1 Introduction: the purpose of the subject benchmark statement

- 1.1 The purpose of this subject benchmark statement is to identify the key knowledge, skills and attitudes expected of students undertaking professional courses in career guidance and development in Scotland and to provide guidelines for higher education institutions in developing and reviewing their career guidance qualifications.
- 1.2 Career guidance and development involves supporting individuals and groups to make effective and informed decisions about their future career and to implement and manage these decisions. The career development practitioner is consequently a facilitator, guide, mentor, coach and support to individuals facing career decisions. Career guidance practitioners need to have the knowledge and skills to work with clients in the decision-making process, underpinned by a thorough knowledge and understanding of career development theories, career-related information, partnership working, the value of career-related learning and of the range and scope of learning and labour markets. Practitioners will also have a thorough understanding of equality, diversity, ethics and how attitudes and values can influence practice.
- 1.3 The OECD review of 2004 (*Career Guidance and Public Policy*)⁵ provided the following definition of career guidance and development work, which remains valid.

Career guidance refers to services intended to assist people, of any age and at any point throughout their lives to make educational, training and occupational choices and to manage their careers. Career guidance helps people to reflect on their ambitions, interests, qualifications and abilities. It helps them to understand the labour market and education systems, and to relate this to what they know about themselves. Comprehensive career guidance tries to teach people to plan and make decisions about work and learning. Career guidance makes information about the labour market and about educational opportunities more accessible by organising it, systematising it, and making it available when and where people need it. (OECD, 2004: 19.)

- 1.4 Career guidance practitioners work with individuals of all abilities, ages and stages in life to help them fulfil their potential and access appropriate opportunities and may work through a range of channels, from face-to-face to web-based services. As well as working in educational settings, practitioners are involved in community engagement, workforce development and a wide range of partnership working.
- 1.5 Use of this subject benchmark statement will ensure that there is a consistent approach to the core content of courses designed to produce effective career guidance practitioners. Students successfully completing this learning will consequently be equipped to be effective, reflective practitioners able to drive forward policy and practice at the forefront of career guidance in Scotland.

3

⁴ National Careers Council (June 2013) *An Aspiration Nation: Creating a culture of change in careers provision.* National Careers Council - England.

⁵ OECD - Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development. *Career guidance and public policy: bridging the gap.* Paris: OECD, 2004.

Rationale for the review of the career guidance and 2 development subject benchmark

- 2.1 The career guidance and development subject benchmark was first published by QAA Scotland in 2007 to reflect the significant changes in the delivery of career guidance services then taking place in Scotland, the focus on services for all ages and across a widening range of constituent organisations operating in the field of career advice and quidance, employability, inclusion and workforce development. It was produced by a group of subject specialists drawn from and acting on behalf of the subject community in Scotland, including the UK professional body, the Institute of Career Guidance, and there was the expectation that it would be subject to review within five years.
- Like many disciplines and professions, career guidance and development is in a constant state of change. During the past five years there have been further significant developments in the field of career guidance and development in Scotland which suggested the need for a further detailed review. Careers Scotland, which supported the development of the first benchmark, was succeeded by Skills Development Scotland in 2008.6 Skills Development Scotland has developed a Career Management Framework with the aim of supporting individuals to develop their own career management skills as well as providing access to web-based services, and the Scottish Government has published a Framework for Service Redesign and Improvement⁸ to guide the effective and efficient delivery of careers services. There are also significant developments in education as a consequence of Curriculum for Excellence⁹ which have implications for the delivery of career education and guidance in schools. There have also been major developments in wider policy areas such as support for post-16 education, training and employment and support for young people. Key policy reference points are described in Appendix 1.
- 2.3 The career guidance profession in the UK has also undergone important changes with the reconstitution and relaunch of the professional body in 2013 as the Career Development Institute. ¹⁰ Finally, the Scottish Government published a new *Qualifications* and Continuous Professional Development Framework for the Career Development Workforce in Scotland 11 which recommended the regular review of career development qualifications.

We recommend that relevant higher education institutions regularly review their career development qualifications taking into account the Framework's analysis of national priority development needs, the competencies and attributes in the generic role profiles and evidence based practice to ensure that people continue to be equipped with relevant skills and competencies. (Recommendation 5, page 45.)

⁶ Skills Development Scotland: <u>www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/about-us/who-we-are/</u>

Career Management Skills Framework for Scotland (2012) Skills Development Scotland, available at: www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/media/1077801/cms%20framework%20with%20foreword%2012%20july% 202012.pdf.

Career Information, Advice and Guidance in Scotland. A Framework for Service Redesign and Improvement (2011) Scottish Government, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2011/03/11110615/0.

Curriculum for Excellence: Building the Curriculum 4 Skills for Learning, Skills for Life and Skills for Work (2009) Education Scotland, available at:

www.educationscotland.gov.uk/thecurriculum/howdoyoubuildyourcurriculum/curriculumplanning/whatisbuildingyo urcurriculum/btc/btc4.asp.

10 Career Development Institute: www.thecdi.net/Home

^{11 &#}x27;A Qualifications and Continuous Professional Development Framework for the Career Development Workforce in Scotland' (2012) Scottish Government, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/07/5300/1.

2.4 The original benchmark was developed from a review of existing qualification standards and competences, both within the UK and internationally, and this revised benchmark has similarly drawn on a range of other qualifications frameworks which are detailed in Appendix 1 to inform its redesign. Given that the original benchmark was produced by a working group consisting of representatives from across the career guidance community in Scotland, including further and higher education, a similar benchmarking group was established to conduct this review and the membership is outlined in Appendix 2. This revised benchmark statement is a result of the review process and has been informed by the group's knowledge and understanding of the key current policy drivers which underpin career guidance and development service delivery in Scotland. These policies are listed in Appendix 1.

3 Core and transferable skills

- 3.1 The benchmark statement has been developed to represent the knowledge, skills and personal values required to operate as competent career guidance practitioners. In addition, students will also develop a range of generic or core skills around critical analysis, communication, self-reflection, autonomy and working with others. These knowledge and skills have been explicitly designed to relate to the SCQF at Level 11.¹²
- 3.2 The characteristics of a Level 11 qualification are as follows:

Knowledge and understanding

- Knowledge that covers and integrates most, if not all, of the main areas of the subject/discipline/sector - including their features, boundaries, terminology and conventions.
- A critical understanding of the principal theories, concepts and principles.
- A critical understanding of a range of specialised theories, concepts and principles.
- Extensive, detailed and critical knowledge and understanding in one or more specialisms, much of which is at, or informed by, developments at the forefront.
- A critical awareness of current issues in a subject/discipline/sector and one or more specialisms.

Applied knowledge and skills

- In using a significant range of the principal professional skills, techniques, practices and/or materials associated with the subject/discipline/sector.
- In using a range of specialised skills, techniques, practices and/or materials that are at the forefront of, or informed by developments.
- In applying a range of standard and specialised research and/or equivalent instruments and techniques of enquiry.
- In planning and executing a significant project of research, investigation or development.
- In demonstrating originality and/or creativity, including in practices.
- To practise in a wide and often unpredictable variety of professional level contexts.

¹² Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework, available at: www.scqf.org.uk.

Generic cognitive skills

- Apply critical analysis, evaluation and synthesis to forefront issues, or issues that are informed by forefront developments in the subject/discipline/sector.
- Identify, conceptualise and define new and abstract problems and issues.
- Develop original and creative responses to problems and issues.
- Critically review, consolidate and extend knowledge, skills, practices and thinking in a subject/discipline/sector.
- Deal with complex issues and make informed judgements in situations in the absence of complete or consistent data/information.

Communication, ICT and numeracy skills

- Use a wide range of routine skills and a range of advanced and specialised skills as appropriate to a subject/discipline/sector, for example:
 - communicate, using appropriate methods, to a range of audiences with different levels of knowledge/expertise
 - communicate with peers, more senior colleagues and specialists
 - use a wide range of ICT applications to support and enhance work at this level and adjust features to suit purpose
 - undertake critical evaluations of a wide range of numerical and graphical data.

Autonomy, accountability and working with others

- Use a wide range of routine skills and a range of advanced and specialised skills as appropriate to a subject/discipline/sector, for example:
 - communicate, using appropriate methods, to a range of audiences with different levels of knowledge/expertise
 - communicate with peers, more senior colleagues and specialists
 - use a wide range of ICT applications to support and enhance work at this level and adjust features to suit purpose
 - undertake critical evaluations of a wide range of numerical and graphical data.

4 Values and commitment

- 4.1 A qualification in Career Guidance and Development needs to comprise three interlinked sets of competences, namely knowledge, skills and personal values. The European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (CEDEFOP) publication, Career Guidance Practitioner competences and qualification routes in Europe¹³ defines competences as:
- cognitive: 'involving the use of theory and concepts, as well as informal tacit knowledge gained experientially'
- functional: 'involving those things that a person should be able to do when they are functioning in a given area of work, learning or social activity'
- personal: 'involving knowing how to conduct oneself in a specific situation'
- ethical: 'involving the possession of certain personal and professional values'.

¹³ 'Professionalising career guidance. Practitioner competences and qualification routes in Europe' (2009) CEDEFOP (European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training): Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, available at: www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/Files/5193_EN.PDF.

- 4.2 The first publication of this benchmark included competences in knowledge and understanding and skills and abilities (that is cognitive and functional statements) and a number of statements relating to values and commitment (the personal and the ethical). The working group for these revised standards decided that while statements relating to values and commitment were central to the qualification it would be better to provide these in a general statement of values and commitment that should underpin all aspects of learning that relate to this benchmark.
- 4.3 Those undertaking a career guidance and development qualification must be able to demonstrate, through their knowledge, understanding, skills and abilities, that they are committed to:
- ethical practice:
 - working ethically
 - accepting opinions and beliefs that differ from their own
 - challenging others in cases of unethical or oppressive behaviour
- excellent professional practice:
 - engaging with clients in an open, honest and impartial way
 - empowering clients to take decisions that are right for them
 - trying innovative techniques to engage individuals and groups in career related activities
 - widening clients' horizons
 - helping clients to understand opportunity structures
 - working within the boundaries of professional competence
 - respecting confidentiality and always seeking permission in cases of referral
 - making appropriate referral of clients to other sources of support and accepting the right of clients to request referral to another adviser
 - engaging proactively and creatively with employers and other opportunity providers
 - partnership working with other organisations to build trust, mutual understanding and effective working relationships that benefit clients
- reflective practice and professional development:
 - engaging in constructive professional dialogue
 - exploring new or unfamiliar ideas and experiences
 - being reflective and professional
 - engaging in personal improvement and continuous professional development
 - sharing both positive and negative experiences with others
 - recognising, valuing and learning from the skills and expertise of colleagues in own and other agencies
 - keeping up to date with and exploring the contribution that theory can make to practice
 - keeping up to date with developments in public policy and their impact on practice.

5 Levels and exit points

5.1 This benchmark has been devised for professional qualifications at postgraduate and master's levels (SCQF Level 11) in career guidance and development in Scotland, offered through both initial training and as a feature of continuing professional development. Candidates undertaking this learning will be equipped, as a result, to be effective, reflective, skilled, committed and knowledgeable career guidance practitioners with the capacity to work in a diverse range of career guidance and development roles.

- The benchmark can be used to design learning programmes in higher education that lead to the postgraduate certificate, postgraduate diploma and master's awards. Standards 1 to 7 relate to postgraduate certificate and diploma awards and standard 8 to master's awards, though certain aspects of standard 8, which relates to undertaking research activities, may well feature at Postgraduate Certificate and Diploma level.
- 5.3 The postgraduate diploma is recognised in Scotland as the established initial professional qualification for those aspiring to work as career guidance practitioners. ¹⁴ It is recognised as such by the Career Development Institute (CDI), the professional body for the career guidance profession in the UK. The CDI approves universities offering the postgraduate diploma in combination with their professional award, the Qualification in Career Guidance and Development, and monitors the quality of programme content and delivery. ¹⁵

6 Assessment guidance

- 6.1 The benchmark statement in this document defines the scope and nature of the learning outcomes expected of postgraduate and master's level students in the field of career guidance and development. Although assessment should be strongly guided by these learning outcomes, they do not represent a checklist for formal assessment. There are a number of reasons for this.
- Some statements relate to learning that should take place but does not lend itself to formal assessment. These may be best addressed by observation on placement, class-based discussion, interaction with practitioners and private study. This may include processes that take place over a long period of time (such as managing caseloads, or handling relationships with partner agencies); work beyond their current professional boundaries (such as conducting practice with clients with complex and sensitive needs, or handling discrimination complaints); work beyond the level of responsibility that a student can reasonably be offered (leading services; operating performance management and quality assurance systems).
- The student assessment load needs to be consistent with both institutional policy and best practice in the sector. It also needs to be proportionate to the credit rating of the qualification to be awarded: 60 credits for the postgraduate certificate, 120 credits for the postgraduate diploma, and 180 credits for the master's.
- Assessment design needs to reconcile the breadth required by professional practice
 with the depth and integration required by study at SCQF level 11. Assessment
 design must also be flexible enough to adapt to current issues, particularly in areas
 that change more rapidly such as government policy and use of new technology in
 guidance.
- 6.2 For these reasons the benchmark statement provides strong guidance for assessment design, but do not represent a specification for assessment. Some discretion must be left to higher education institutions to design assessments appropriately. The assessment design process should be informed by dialogue with key professional stakeholders and employers of guidance practitioners to ensure its currency and relevance.

15 www.thecdi.net/Home

_

¹⁴ 'A Qualifications and Continuous Professional Development Framework for the Career Development Workforce in Scotland' (2012) Scottish Government, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/07/5300/1.

7 Practical experience

7.1 Gaining access to practical experience is fundamental to the achievement of this qualification at all levels. The knowledge, understanding, professional skills and ethics required of career guidance practitioners are integrated through and reflected in the qualification. Programmes should be designed to include this and integration between academic input and practice-based learning should be as productive and seamless as possible to ensure a balance in programme delivery. At the postgraduate diploma level there is also a requirement from the professional body for students to undertake periods of placement. Practical experiences should not only allow for practice in individual interventions, group work and research skills but reflect the context of practice, including the range of partnership working, career information and labour market intelligence and the impact of policy and theory on the delivery of career guidance and development.

8 Continuous professional development

- 8.1 While the focus in the benchmark is on qualifications located in higher education institutions it can be used to support continuous professional development (CPD) activities after initial training. Effective CPD is a commitment to professionalism. Undertaking CPD evidences that individuals have taken responsibility for ensuring they continue to have the knowledge and skills required to practice as an effective reflective practitioner to meet the challenges of the ever-changing career guidance sector.
- 8.2 CPD is a combination of approaches and interventions that help individuals manage their own learning for which they must take personal responsibility. A cycle of reflection, planning, learning and review will enable practitioners to secure value from their learning and consider how to integrate new skills and learning into practical outcomes. Learning should always be linked to action, theory and practice.
- 8.3 CPD can include a range of different experiences including formal study, peer networking, coaching and mentoring. An underpinning principle should be that practitioners must understand why they are participating in the activity and what they expect to get out of it.
- 8.4 Career guidance practitioners should undertake a mix of CPD activities that will enhance their personal learning and development needs and refresh and extend their learning throughout their careers. Individuals should use their professional judgement to determine the learning interventions appropriate to their needs as their career progresses.

9 Benchmark standards for a master's level qualification in Career Guidance and Development

- 9.1 The following pages contain the benchmark statements which represent the standard of knowledge, understanding, skills and abilities of students engaged in master's-level study in career guidance and development in Scotland. Students should have achieved standards 1 to 7 by the time they complete the postgraduate diploma and standard 8 by the time they complete the master's.
- 9.2 The standards:
- 1 Ethical and professional practice
- 2 Career development theory
- 3 Career guidance practice
- 4 Career guidance policy
- 5 Career-related information and learning
- 6 Partnership working
- 7 Labour market intelligence
- 8 Career guidance research

Stand		Standard name	Description	Description				
1 Ethical and professional practice		ethical praction managing ow professional practice and cunderstanding to equality an	tandard is concerned with the critical analysis of I practice and the factors that can undermine this, ging own personal beliefs and values to ensure sional practice is upheld, the importance of reflective ce and developing a thorough knowledge and standing of legislation, policies and practice relating ality and diversity.					
Know	/ledge	and understand	ling	Skills and a	abilities			
stude know of:	ents w ledge	of this program ill be able to den and critical und	nonstrate a erstanding	By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to use a significant range of skills, techniques and practices to:				
1a	care	ethical principles t er guidance and d ventions		1(i)	plan strategies and resources that uphold and promote ethical practice and equality and diversity			
1b	1b strategies for upholdin practice and professio standards, including the professional bodies		nal	1(ii)	critically analyse and constructively challenge unethical or oppressive behaviour/practice in others			
1c				1(iii)	evaluate, challenge and effectively manage own values, beliefs and reactions to demonstrate a commitment to ethical practice			
1d	responsibilities and entitlements in the career guidance and		ntitlements in	1(iv)	give and receive effective feedback to analyse the competence and performance of self and others			
1e	development process the rationale for and major provisions of legislation a of practice relating to equipment process.		n and codes	1(v)	gather evidence of and analyse own performance from a range of sources and set targets and objectives for own professional development			
1f	prac and	service providers titioners demonst diversity principle slation in their politice	rate equality s and	1(vi)	effectively use appropriate systems of supervision and support, including peer support			
1g	•		ofessional	1 (vii)	build and sustain effective working relationships			
1h	own com	ooundaries and lin professional expe petence	ertise and					
1i		t is meant by refle continuous impro	•					
1j 1k	sour to ap	ces of evidence a opraise own perfo mportance of con	nd feedback rmance tinuous					
	prof	essional developn	nent to					

	maintain knowledge, skills and practice and manage the effects of change
11	how to manage own work in an organisational context, including the potential for conflict in values and ethics

Stand		Description			
2 Career development underpin care psychology, sencompasses		d relates to the theoretical perspectives that eer guidance practice, derived from sociology and other social sciences. It is concepts of how career choices are made evelopment through the lifespan.			
Know	rledge and understa		Skills and a		
stude	e end of this progra ents will be able to deleted ledge and critical u	demonstrate a	By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to use a significant range of skills, techniques and practices to:		
2a	the concept and va evidence-based pr		2(i)	critically evaluate the contribution of theory to practice	
2b	2b models of career guidance and development interventions and their value in maintaining and developing high quality career guidance practice		2(ii)	apply theory to own role and practice	
2c			2(iii)	assess the career development needs of clients	
2d	theories of career of making, motivation				
2e	the range and use and assessment to guidance and deve	ools in career			
2f	the implications of theoretical perspectoractice	ctives on			
2g	the influence of far personal circumsta networks on client decision making	nces and social			

Standard number	Standard name	Description			
3 Career guidance practice		This standard covers the main communication, interpersonal skills and knowledge required for effective career guidance work. This includes counselling, coaching, person-centred, motivational and goal-orientated techniques and models, the ability to work with a range of clients throughout the lifespan, the ability to assess the appropriate strategies to help decision making through face to face (including group work and presentation skills) and e-based interactions.			
	ge and understand		Skills and a		
students	nd of this programs will be able to den ge and critical und	nonstrate a	By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to use a significant range of skills, techniques and practices to:		
ca	e different types of in reer guidance intervant they aim to achie	entions and	3(i)	critically evaluate the use of models and interventions in person-centred practice	
pra co ted	e concept of person actice, including the unselling and coach chniques in career of velopment	place of ning	3(ii)	tailor the individual intervention to suit the context, needs and characteristics of the client	
the int inc	propriate models/ape different types of interventions in career cluding face-to-face duse of social medits.	ndividual r guidance, , web based	3(iii)	assess client need and compare, contrast and practice use of a range of appropriate tools and techniques or resources to meet that need	
	ols and techniques f dividual client needs		3(iv)	establish, maintain and develop effective communication within the individual intervention in accordance with the principles of ethical practice	
red rel co	gislation and organis quirements, includin ating to data protec nfidentiality	ig those tion and	3(v)	reach agreement with the client on the aim, purpose and scope of the intervention	
be	ategies that encour actively engaged ir idance process		3(vi)	challenge and support clients to reframe their thinking, broaden their horizons and encourage their career adaptability	
ow pro res	w to help clients to in career managem bactive asset-based sponsibility and resi anaging their career	ent skills and I personal lience in	3(vii)	encourage clients to be actively engaged in the career planning process, including setting and reviewing agreed goals	
ca	w to manage cases seloads and provide pport to clients		3(viii)	identify and agree with the client a course of action to resolve their needs	

3i	techniques for supporting clients to develop and implement their career plans	3(ix)	make an appropriate record of the intervention and explain its role and purpose to the client
3j	how to evaluate the effectiveness and measure the impact of career guidance interventions	3(x)	plan and design group work that is appropriate to the needs of the target audience
3k	the principles and processes of effective signposting, referral and advocacy	3(xi)	deliver and facilitate group work that is person-centred and maximises opportunities for learning
31	the rationale for working with groups in a career guidance and development context and the differences between group work and presentations	3(xii)	how to apply counselling techniques such as motivational and solution-focused approaches and group guidance
3m	how to plan and deliver interactive and participative group work that is responsive to the needs of the audience and maximises learning	3(xiii)	critically evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of work with groups to inform the group work planning process
3n	strategies for managing group dynamics, including challenging behaviour, to develop and sustain effective working relationships		
30	a range of group work methods (including use of ICT) and their relative merits		
3р	how to evaluate the effectiveness of group work sessions		

Standard Description					
numb					
4			l locates career guidance services in a public		
	guidance		•	ng employment and education	
	policy			government social policy	
			r guidance provision and determines its		
V a a v v			structures for delivery. Skills and abilities		
Know	ledge and understan	aing	Skills and a	idilities	
	e end of this program			of this programme of study,	
	nts will be able to de			ill be able to use a significant	
	ledge and critical und	lerstanding		ills, techniques and practices	
of:			to:		
4a	the history and devel		4(i)	critically evaluate the effect of	
		areer education and guidance		social policy on career	
policy and practice in t			4 (11)	guidance practice	
4b the purpose, aims and b			4(ii)	promote inclusion, lifelong	
		reer-related learning within the		learning and employability	
		rriculum of secondary and			
tertiary education and in tr		•			
4c	and employment sett the delivery of career				
40	services in a range of				
	operational contexts				
	within the UK, the EU				
4d	the public policy on c				
	guidance, employabil				
	learning and econom				
	development within the	elopment within the UK and			
	how guidance organi	v guidance organisations			
	respond to this				
4e	4e the causes and nature of social				
	exclusion and its rela	tionship to			
	social policy				
4f	inclusion strategies for				
	individuals and group				
4g	the benefits of career	•			
	personal, social and	economic			

Standard		Standard	Description		
numb	er	name			
5 Career- related information and learning Knowledge and understand		This standard is concerned with the management, deliver and evaluation of career-related information and learning in a range of settings. This includes strategies and resources for supporting clients who are making career development choices through the lifespan. Skills and abilities Skills a		ated information and learning includes strategies and ents who are making career gh the lifespan.	
stude know of:	nts w ledge	of this program ill be able to den and critical und	nonstrate a erstanding	students wil range of ski to:	of this programme of study, Il be able to use a significant Ils, techniques and practices
5a	infor guida	t is meant by care mation and its use ance and develop	e in a career ment context	5(i)	identify the career-related information needs of a range of service users
5b	infor	ationale for client mation managem	ent skills	5(ii)	critically evaluate the range, sources and quality of the career-related information that is available to clients
5c	relat	guidelines and frai ing to the provisio er-related informa	n of	5(iii)	interpret information and tailor it to the needs of clients and their key influencers
5d			career	5(iv)	support clients to access, interpret and use career related information independently using a variety of media
5e	equa	mplications of leg ality and diversity er-related informa	for access to	5(v)	research, collect and collate career-related information using various methodologies and technologies
5f	the range of resources that are available to support the delivery of career-related learning and the major modes of delivery of career learning programmes		e delivery of g and the	5(vi)	understand, interpret and use local, national and international qualifications frameworks
5g	5 : 5		g and career th individuals, g providers	5(vii)	demonstrate the capability to widen clients' horizons by introducing them to unfamiliar new ideas and sources of information
5h	deve care	career guidance a elopment practition er-related learning ettings	ners support	5(viii)	participate in the design and delivery of career-related learning programmes and activities in a range of settings
5i		people learn and ning styles	different	5(ix)	use technology and innovative techniques to deliver career-related learning

5j	how to design and evaluate the impact of career related learning programmes and identify gaps in provision	5(x)	critically evaluate the effectiveness and efficiency of career-related learning
5k	how career related learning can support the development of career management skills		programmes

Stand numb		Standard name	Description			
6 Partnership working This standard addresses the benefits and risks of collaborative working, the identification of relevant individuals and organisations and the skills require ensure effective partnership working. With a focus positive outcomes and enhanced service delivery, partnership working is effective when individuals has shared vision of a common goal and a shared understanding of the risk and rewards of collaborations.			dentification of relevant ns and the skills required to p working. With a focus on anced service delivery, ctive when individuals have a goal and a shared			
Know	ledge	and understand	ling	Skills and	abilities	
stude knowl of:	nts w ledge	of this programi ill be able to den and critical und	nonstrate a erstanding	By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to use a significant range of skills, techniques and practices to:		
6a		orinciples and coll ntage of partners		6(i)	build and sustain effective working relationships with others, internal and external	
6b	6b different types and methods collaborative working, both formal			6(ii)	share experience, knowledge, information and expertise with others and recognise, value and learn from this	
6c	the range of potential key partners and partnerships in a career guidance and development context		career	6(iii)	identify and realise opportunities to work collaboratively	
6d	orga	ervices offered by nisations and inte now to access the	rested parties	6(iv)	demonstrate negotiation skills with partner organisations	
6e	impa	ey policy develop ct on partnership ding organisation	working,			
6f	partr		. ,			
6g	orga own	ndividuals, comm nisations likely to network	form one's			
6h	6h the need to record and share issues with other agencies, including the outcomes of referral					
6i	helpi	gencies with key ng to overcome c ers to client progr er	or remove			
6j	remo	oractitioner's broke oving barriers to le ression	•			

Stand	lard	Standard	Description			
numb		name				
7		Labour market intelligence	This standard focuses on the range of labour market information and intelligence that is available and the need to respond to a fast moving labour market and economic environment. It addresses the need to ensure available labour market data is integrated into career guidance provision. Practitioners must ensure that analyses, interpretations and conclusions are robust and meaningful and based on quality data from reliable sources.			
Know	ledge	and understand	ling	Skills an	d abilities	
By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to demonstrate a knowledge and critical understanding of:			nonstrate a erstanding	By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to use a significant range of skills, techniques and practices to:		
7a	education, employment and training policies and systems to promote employability and skills		to promote	7(i)	liaise with opportunity providers and engage proactively with education, employment and training providers	
7b	the operation of local, regional, national and international labour markets			7(ii)	facilitate understanding between career guidance and development professionals and labour and learning providers	
7c	sector prom	ole of publicly fun or-specific agenci noting training and ortunities	es in	7(iii)	critically evaluate the range and appropriateness of labour market information and intelligence	
7d	lifelo	ole of career guiding learning and velopment		7(iv)	engage in critical enquiry into/ investigate aspects of the labour market	
7e	how to source, interpret and present labour market information and intelligence, including sectoral trends, to a range of audiences		7(v)	explain and interpret labour market information, intelligence and trends to a range of audiences, including clients and partners		
7f	mark	to manage the us cet information an	d intelligence	7(vi)	support clients in understanding the links and constraints between their aspirations and available opportunities	
7g	othe	to network with e r opportunity prov pportunities				

Stand numb		Standard name	Description			
8		Career guidance research	Within a CEIAGD context, research is based on a critical enquiry into aspects of professional practice, the application of theory to practice or a detailed investigation into areas of policy and partnership working. This reflects skills and knowledge of a range of research methods, the evaluation and analysis of results, implications for practice and the contribution to the body of knowledge in career quidance.			
Know	ledge	and understand	ling	Skills and	abilities	
By the end of this programme of study, students will be able to demonstrate a knowledge and critical understanding of:			nonstrate a	students v	d of this programme of study, will be able to use a t range of skills, techniques ces to:	
8a	the concept and value of evidence-based practice			8(i)	contribute to the body of knowledge in the profession	
8b	the contribution of research to the body of knowledge in the profession		earch to the	8(ii)	apply appropriate research strategies	
8c		rationale, principle nods of critical end		8(iii)	complete a substantial empirical research project at the forefront of the discipline of career guidance and development	
8d	8d the ethics of empirical research, including the process of seeking and receiving ethical approval to conduct research					
8e	rese	arch design and r	nethodology			
8f						
8g	litera	design and preser ature review				
8h		to document and arch results	communicate			
8i		to conduct a critic analysis	cal discussion			

Appendix 1: Key qualifications and policy reference points

Qualifications

QAA Scotland (2007) Scottish Subject Benchmark Statement - Career guidance, available at: www.qaa.ac.uk/Publications/InformationAndGuidance/Pages/Scottish-subject-benchmark-statement---Career-guidance-.aspx

Subject benchmark statements relating to professional qualifications awarded in Scotland, available at:

www.qaa.ac.uk/AssuringStandardsAndQuality/subjectguidance/Pages/Scottishbenchmarkstatements.aspx

Scottish Government (2012) A Qualifications and Continuous Professional Development Framework for the Career Development Workforce in Scotland. available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2012/07/5300/1

Careers Profession Alliance (April 2012) *Blueprint for the Register of Career Development Professionals and Career Progression Framework*, available at: www.icg-uk.org/write/CPA Blueprint for Professional Register - Final (V3).pdf

Lifelong Learning UK (2011) Career Development National Occupational Standards, available at:

http://readingroom.skillsfundingagency.bis.gov.uk/sfa/nextstep/frameworkstandardsandguidance/LLUK%20NOS%20Full%20Suite.pdf

OECD (2004) Career guidance: a handbook for policy makers. Paris: Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development; European Commission. www.oecd.org/dataoecd/53/53/34060761.pdf

QAA Scotland (2001) Framework for qualifications of higher education institutions in Scotland, available at:

www.qaa.ac.uk/Publications/InformationAndGuidance/Documents/FHEQscotland.pdf

European Centre for the Development of Vocational Training (2009) *Professionalising career guidance. Practitioner competences and qualification routes in Europe*, available at: http://www.cedefop.europa.eu/en/Files/5193 EN.PDF

Institute of Career Guidance (2001) QCG Learning Outcomes.

Scottish Credit and Qualifications Framework (August 2012) *Revised Level Descriptors*, available at: www.scqf.org.uk/

Erasmus Network for Innovation in Career Guidance and Counselling in Europe (2012) Tuning Handbook - Tools for the Design and Development of Degree Programmes in Career Guidance and Counselling in Europe.

Policy (career guidance)

National Careers Council (June 2013) An Aspiration Nation: Creating a culture of change in careers provision.

Scottish Government (April 2010) 16+ Learning Choices Policy and Practice Framework: Supporting all young people into positive and sustained destinations, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/03/30180354/0

Scottish Government (2011) Career Information, Advice and Guidance in Scotland. A Framework for Service Redesign and Improvement, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2011/03/11110615/0

Skills Development Scotland (2012) Career Management Skills Framework for Scotland, available at:

www.skillsdevelopmentscotland.co.uk/media/1077801/cms%20framework%20with%20forew ord%2012%20july%202012.pdf

Education Scotland (2009) Curriculum for Excellence: Building the Curriculum 4 Skills for Learning, Skills for Life and Skills for Work, available at:

www.educationscotland.gov.uk/thecurriculum/howdoyoubuildyourcurriculum/curriculumplanning/whatisbuildingyourcurriculum/btc/btc4.asp

Policy (general)

Scottish Government (2010) Accelerating the Recovery and Increasing Sustainable Economic Growth. Skills for Scotland (refreshed), available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2010/10/04125111/0

Scottish Government (June 2012) Action for Jobs - Supporting Young Scots into Work: Scotland's Youth Employment Strategy available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0039/00396371.pdf

Scottish Government (2011) *Delivering our Ambitions for Post 16 Education: Putting Learners at the Centre*, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/357943/0120971.pdf

Scottish Government (2008) *A Guide to Getting it right for every child*, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/gettingitright

Scottish Government (2006) More Choices More Chances: A Strategy to reduce the Proportion of Young People not in Education, Employment or Training in Scotland, available at:

www.scotland.gov.uk/Publications/2006/06/13100205/0

Scottish Government (November 2012) Opportunities for All: Supporting all young people to participate in post-16 learning, training or work, available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0040/00408815.pdf

Scottish Government (March 2012) *The Scottish Labour Market Information and Intelligence (LMI) Framework*, available at:

www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/0038/00389485.pdf

Appendix 2: Membership of subject benchmark review group, 2013

Graham Allan Lecturer in Career Guidance University of the West of

and Development Scotland

Mike Bartle Guidance Manager and Dundee College

Chair of Guidance Community of Practice, Scotland's Colleges

Nancy Burns Head of Youth and Learning Jobs and Business Glasgow

Sharon Kelly Area Manager Skills Development Scotland

Abigail Kinsella Development Officer Glasgow City Council

Ann Livey Careers Service Manager University of the West of

Scotland

Janet Moffett Lecturer in Career Guidance University of the West of

and Development Scotland

Peter Robertson Lecturer in Career Guidance Edinburgh Napier University

and Development

David Setchell Scottish and Irish Director Inspiring Futures

Liz Thomson Moderator Career Development Institute

QAA617 - Mar 14

© The Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education 2014 Southgate House, Southgate Street, Gloucester GL1 1UB

Tel: 01452 557 000

Email: enquiries@qaa.ac.uk
Website: www.qaa.ac.uk

Registered charity numbers 1062746 and SC037786